IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 79,712

ANNA RUE CAMP and JOHN E. VENN,
Appellants,

v.

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INS. CO., Appellee.

ON QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE **UNITED** STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR **THE** ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Talbot D'Alemberte Adalberto Jordan Jonathan Sjostrom STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS 4000 Southeast Financial Center Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 577-2800

Counsel for Appellants

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case involves a bad faith action against St. Paul & Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul"). The federal district court acknowledged that "there are many genuine issues of material fact concerning the underlying bad faith claim." 127 B.R. 879, 881 (N.D. Fla. 1991). Nevertheless, the district court granted summary judgment to St. Paul on the ground that, as a matter of law, the bankruptcy of St. Paul's insured (Dr. Farris Kimbell) absolutely immunized St. Paul from a bad faith action. <u>Id</u>, at 883-86.

The case is before the Court on the following questions, which were certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit as questions of first impression under Florida law:

- I. Whether, as a matter of law, a named insured's bankruptcy and discharge from liability prior to exposure to an excess **judg**ment, such that the named insured was never personally liable for any amount of the judgment, precludes an injured party's or bankruptcy trustee's subsequent bad faith cause of action against an insurance company.
- II. Whether, as **a** matter of law, the language of a bankruptcy clause in a particular insurance policy, such as the language at issue in this case, can authorize an injured party's or bankruptcy trustee's bad faith action against an insurance company, notwithstanding the fact that the named insured **was** never personally liable for any amount of an excess judgment due to the named insured's bankruptcy.

958 F.2d **340,344**(11th Cir. 1992).

The Eleventh Circuit also stated in its opinion that

the Florida Supreme Court may wish to consider whether or not different answers would be appropriate if the evidence demonstrated that the conduct of the insurance company either caused or contributed to the named insured's bankruptcy. In addition, the proper resolution of the certified questions may require an interpretation of Fla. Stat. § 624.155(1991).

Id. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V of the Florida Constitution. See Fla. Const. Art. V, § 3(b)(6).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course of Proceedings

On December 30,1988, Anna Rue Camp and John E. Venn, as trustee of the bankruptcy estate of Dr. Fariss Kimbell (sometimes referred to as "appellants"), filed a two-count complaint in Florida circuit court against St. Paul. R. 1:2 (attachments). The complaint alleged that St. Paul had acted in bad faith in refusing to settle **a** medical malpractice claim by Mrs. Camp against its insured, Dr. Kimbell, and that as a result of St. Paul's actions Mrs. Camp obtained a judgment of \$3.1 million against Dr. Kimbell, a judgment in excess of Dr. Kimbell's \$250,000 policy limits. Mrs. Camp and Mr. Venn sought to recover damages, attorney's fees, costs, and interest, and requested a jury trial.

On January 11,1989, after the complaint was filed, Dr. Kimbell was relieved of personal liability for the excess judgment pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 55.145 by a Florida court, R. II:106, Exhibit A. 2/

At any time after one (1) year has elapsed since a bankrupt or debtor was discharged from his debts, pursuant to the Act of Congress relating to Bankruptcy, the bankrupt or debtor, his receiver or trustee, or any interested party may petition the Court in which the judgment was rendered against such bankrupt or debtor for an order to cancel and discharge such judgment. The petition shall he accompanied by a certified copy of the discharge of said bankrupt or by a certified copy of the order of confirmation of the arrangement filed by said debtor. The petition, accompanied by copies of the papers upon which it is made, shall be served upon the judgment creditor in the manner prescribed for service of process in a civil action. If it appears upon the hearing that the bankrupt or debtor has been discharged from the payment of that judgment or of the debt upon which it was recovered, the Court shall enter an order cancelling and discharging said judgment. The order of cancellation and discharge shall have the same effect as a satisfaction of judgment and a certified copy thereof may be recorded in the same manner as a satisfaction of judgment. This section shall apply only to liens under judgments or obligations duly scheduled in the bankruptcy proceedings.

Fla. Stat. §55.145.

In the remainder of this brief, a judgment against an insured which exceeds the policy limits will be referred to as an "excessjudgment."

^{2/} The statute provides as follows:

St. Paul removed the bad faith action to federal district court on February 6, 1989. R. 1:2. St. Paul then moved for judgment on the pleadings. R. 1:15. In part, St. Paul argued that a bad faith action could not be maintained because Dr. Kimbell had not been damaged by the excess judgment, In support of its argument St. Paul cited this Court's decision in Fidelity and Casualty Co. of New York v. Cope, 462 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1985). R. I:16 at 10-12. St. Paul also argued that Mrs. Camp was not a proper plaintiff and that neither Mrs. Camp nor Mrs. Venn had stated a claim for bad faith. Id. at 5-9, 13-17. In March of 1989, appellants filed an amended complaint and St. Paul filed an answer to the amended complaint, R. I:23; I:25. The district court denied St. Paul's motion for judgment on the pleadings on April 20, 1989, holding that St. Paul's arguments had "no basis." R. I:29 at 2.

Appellants moved for summary judgment on September 22,1989. R. II:90; II:91. In October of 1989, St. Paul moved for summary judgment. R. II:105; II:106. Appellants responded to St. Paul's motion for summary judgment on November 7,1989, and submitted additional evidence in support of their own motion for summary judgment. R. III:137; IV:141.

On **February** 12, 1991, the district court (with a different district judge presiding) entered a 22-page order granting summary judgment in favor of St. Paul on all counts. R. V:186. <u>See</u> 127 B.R. 879 (N.D. Fla. 1991). A final judgment in favor of St. Paul was entered on February 27,1991. R. V:187.

The first part of the district court's order addressed whether St. Paul acted in bad faith in refusing to settle Mrs. Camp's claim against Dr. Kimbell. The district court concluded that "there are many genuine issues of material fact concerning the underlying bad faith claim, thereby precluding summary judgment for either plaintiffs or defendant." 127 B.R. at 881. Thus, the district court found that a jury should determine whether St. Paul acted in bad faith.

Before reaching the merits, the district court dismissed Mrs. Camp **as** a plaintiff. It reasoned that **Mrs**. Camp "did not have independent standing to **sue** St. Paul"

because she and Mr. Venn had agreed that any money recovered in this action would be initially paid to Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate. Id. at 882. The district court did not cite any authority in support of this ruling, and did not address whether Mrs. Camp could maintain a bad faith action under Fla. Stat. § 624.155, as pled in the complaint.

The district court than turned to St. Paul's argument that this Court's decision in Cope and the Eleventh Circuit's decision in Clement v. Prudential Property & Casualty Co., 790 F.2d 1645 (11th Cir. 1986), eliminated Mr. Venn's bad faith action. The district court interpreted Cope as holding that "a satisfaction or release of the insured destroys" a bad faith claim. 127 B.R. at 885. Because the bankruptcy court had entered an order stating that any judgment obtained by Mrs. Camp in the underlying malpractice action would "not be enforceable" against Dr. Kimbell, and because the judgment obtained by Mrs. Camp had been cancelled with respect to Dr. Kimbell pursuant to Fla. Stat.

§ 55.145, the district court concluded that Mr. Venn did not have a bad faith claim:

[Dr.] Kimbell was never personally liable for the excess judgment. Under the law of Florida, his discharge in bankruptcy had the effect of "satisfying" that judgment with respect to him. . . . As a result, Cope and Clement control, and St. Paul cannot be held liable for any alleged bad faith in defending Dr. Kimbell.

127 B.R. at **883-84.** The district court rejected appellants' argument that a bad faith action could be maintained because Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate remained liable for the excess judgment: "The answer to this argument, I believe, is that the insurer's duty of good faith runs to the insured alone, as the **Cope** opinion makes very clear." Id. at 883.

Appellants asserted that St. Paul could nevertheless be sued for bad faith because a clause in Dr. Kimbell's policy states that St. Paul will "still be obligated under [the] policy" if Dr. Kimbell "goes bankrupt." The district court acknowledged that two cases directly on point, Torrez v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 705 F.2d 1192 (10th Cir. 1982), and Maguire v, Allstate Ins. Co., 341 F. Supp. 866 (D. Del. 1972), supported appellants' argument, but found it unnecessary to construe the language of Dr. Kimbell's policy because "the clause does not affect the application of the law of Florida

and the particular way the judgment was entered in accordance with that law." 127 B.R. at 885. According to the district court, St. Paul's duty of good faith towards Dr. Kimbell "was extinguished upon...the discharge in bankruptcy." Id.

The district court acknowledged and agreed with various cases holding that if the bankruptcy of the insured is caused by the insurer's bad faith, the insurer can be sued for bad faith regardless of whether the bankruptcy would normally preclude a bad faith action. Id. at 885. It held, however, that appellants were not entitled to a trial on whether St. Paul's actions caused Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy: "there is no genuine issue of fact on this question, and St. Paul's alleged bad faith was not the cause of [Dr.] Kimbell's bankruptcy." Id. at 886. The standard of causation that the district court used in making this determination was whether St. Paul's actions were the sole cause of Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy. Id. at 886, 887.

Appellants sought review of the district court's order in the Eleventh Circuit.

After oral argument, the Eleventh Circuit certified various questions of first impression to this Court. See 958 F.2d 340 (11th Cir. 1992).3/

(ii) Statement of the Facts

The facts are comprehensively set out in pages 6-21 of appellant's initial brief to the Eleventh Circuit. They are also summarized as follows in the Eleventh Circuit's opinion:

The insurance policy issued by St. Paul in favor of Dr. Kimbell covered the doctor for medical malpractice up to a limit of \$250,000 per person injured. The policy also contained the language:

Once liability has been determined by judgement or by written agreement, the party making the claim may be able to recover under this policy, up to the limits of your coverage. But that party can't sue us directly or join us in a suit against the protected person until liability has been so determined. If the

Consistent with their statue as appellants in the Eleventh Circuit, Mrs. Camp and Mr. Venn have filed the initial brief in this Court.

protected person or his or her estate goes hankrupt of becomes insolvent, we'll still be obligated under this policy.

While this policy was in force, Dr. Kimbell performed the procedures which resulted in Camp's injuries. Camp's lawyers threatened to sue Dr. Kimbell for medical malpractice. In July 1984, Dr. Kimbell notified St. Paul about Camp's claim.

St. Paul began the defense of Dr. Kimbell shortly thereafter. On December 10,1984, Camp Rued Dr. Kimbell for medical malpractice in Florida state court. Between the time that Camp's malpractice suit was filed at the end of 1984 and July of 1986, there were two important developments relevant to the present case. First, Dr. Kimbell's financial condition began deteriorating. He had large debts prior to Camp's lawsuit. In addition, the Camp lawsuit, as well as another medical malpractice suit, started to affect the doctor's ability to earn money. Specifically, an investigation of Dr. Kimbell, prompted by the two lawsuits, eventually led to the suspension of Dr. Kimbell's privileges at one of the hospitals where he practiced neurosurgery. That suspension led to fewer referrals, less income, and the concomitant financial instability.

Second, Camp twice offered to settle with St. Paul for Dr. Kimbell'a policy limits of \$250,000. The settlement requests were made on June 3 and November 5 of 1985. St. Paul rejected both settlement offers. At the time the second offer was rejected, St. Paul was at least aware of Dr. Kimbell's financial difficulties.

In July of 1986, Dr. Kimbell filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy case in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Florida. Pursuant to the automatic stay of 11U.S.C. § 362 (1988), Camp's state lawsuit was halted. While Dr. Kimbell'sbankruptcy case was proceeding, Camp offered to settle with St. Paul for the policy limits for the third time. On September 19, 1986, St. Paul again rejected settlement. One month later, on November 24, 1986, Dr. Kimbell was granted a discharge order in bankruptcy court, shielding him from any personal liability for claims pending against him as of the date of his bankruptcy filing. During all of this time, St. Paul was researching the question of whether or not Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy would impact the company's exposure to a potential bad faith suit by Mrs. Camp.

On April 13,1987, the bankruptcy court modified the stay in Dr. Kimbell's case so as to allow Camp to liquidate her claim against the doctor. However, the bankruptcy court specifically ruled that any judgment obtained by Camp in her state court lawsuit would not be enforceable against Dr. Kirnbell personally. In May 1987, St. Paul rejected a fourth offer by Camp to settle for the \$250,000 policy limits. Although after this fourth rejection St. Paul offered to settle for amounts lowered than the policy limits, the parties could not a pee and Camp's case proceeded to trial. Mrs. Camp won a verdict of more than three million dollars on June 26, 1987. This judgment was affirmed on appeal. See Kimbell v, Camp, 632 So.2d 1061 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1988) (table).

Subsequent to the verdict, the bankruptcy court in December of 1988 entered an order allowing the excess of the judgment as a general, non-priority unsecured claim against Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate. Once again, the bankruptcy court stated that Camp's judgment could not be enforced against Dr. Kimbell personally. In the Florida state trial court, Dr. Kimhell moved for an order cancelling and discharging the three million dollar judgment pursuant to Fla.Stat. ch. 55.145 (1991). On January 11,1989, the lower state court discharged the judgment against Dr. Kimbell in accordance with this provision of Florida law.

958 F.2d at 341-42.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Much of the district **court's** 22-page order **was** devoted to the question of whether, under Florida law, **an** insured's discharge in bankruptcy bars a common law bad faith claim against the insurer. This Court, however, need not make any broad pronouncements about Florida common law on bad faith or federal bankruptcy law. As explained in Point I, there is **a** narrow ground upon which this Court can permit this bad faith claim to go forward.

I. In Florida, a bad faith action sounds in contract, and an insurer's fiduciary duty is determined by the scope of the contractual undertaking. The policy issued by St. Paul to Dr. Kimbell provides that St. Paul will "still be obligated under [the] policy" if Dr. Kimbell goes bankrupt or becomes insolvent. Under Florida law, one of the obligations that St. Paul had under the policy was to settle in good faith, so the bankruptcy does not preclude a bad faith claim. Moreover, the three courts to have addressed the question have concluded that language similar to that in Dr. Kimbell's policy refers to more than payment of the policy limits and permits a bad faith action against the insurer even if the insured has filed for bankruptcy or become insolvent. In effect, the bankruptcy clause constitutes a waiver by the insurer of the argument that the insured's bankruptcy provides absolute immunity from a bad faith claim. See Ganaway v. Shelter Mutual Ins. Co., 795 S.W.2d 554, 564 (Mo. App. 1990); Torrez v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins, Co., 705 F.2d 1192, 1197-98 (10th Cir. 1982); Maguire v. Allstate Ins. Co., 341 F. Supp.

866, 869 (D. Del. 1972). The bankruptcy clause in Dr. Kimbell's policy therefore permits a bad faith action against St. Paul. To the extent that the language in Dr. Kimbell's policy is considered ambiguous, it must be construed strictly against St. Paul to permit a had faith action.

11. Dr. Kimbell's fortuitous bankruptcy does not immunize St. Paul from a common law bad faith claim. Fidelity and Casualty Co. of New York v. Cope, 462 So.2d **459** (Fla. 1985), holds only that a bad faith action cannot be maintained where all adverse Consequences resulting from the excess judgment have been eliminated. Here, adverse consequences remain because Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate, which owns the liability policy and any cause of action arising from it, stands in the shoes of Dr. Kimbell and remains liable for the multi-million dollar excess judgment. Moreover, <u>Cope</u> cannot be imported wholesale into the bankruptcy context. Cope involved a release given to the insured after rendition of the excess judgment. In the **Cope** paradygm, the insurer acts without knowledge that a release will be given in the future, of that it may be immune from a bad faith action. In the bankruptcy or insolvency context, the opposite is true. The insurer usually knows about its insured's financial condition before the third-party suit is resolved, and can use that knowledge in determining how to handle the claim. Here, St. Paul actually used the bankruptcy of Dr. Kimbell as a guide for its conduct and its persistent refusal to settle. St. Paul waited until Dr. Kimbell went bankrupt and then researched the issue of how the bankruptcy affected its own bad faith exposure. If Cope is applied mechanically in the bankruptcy context, insurers will be given license to use the insured's financial condition as the basis for their conduct with the incredible result that those who most need the loyalty and commitment of insurers are most likely not to receive it.

III. Even if <u>Cope</u> generally applies in the bankruptcy context, appellants can maintain their action for bad faith. Those jurisdictions which hold that an insured's bankruptcy generally bars **a** bad faith claim recognize that a bad faith action nevertheless can be maintained if the insurer's bad faith **was a** cause of the bankruptcy. The reason

for this exception is simple: if the exception were not recognized, an insures could "default, drive its assured to the wall of bankruptcy, and then blithely advise the estate, the trustee, the assured and all of the creditors that while its duty was breached, there is nothing to be done about it." Palmer v. Travelers Ins. Co., 319 F.2d 296,300 (5th Cir. 1963)(Brown, J., concurring). In this case, there is an issue of fact as to whether St. Paul's actions were a substantial factor leading to Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy, and this Court should hold that an insurer cannot escape liability for bad faith if it has contributed to the bankruptcy of its insured.

IV. Under Florida law, Mrs. Camp, who is a judgment creditor of Dr. Kirnbell's estate, can bring a direct action against St. Paul for bad faith under Florida common law or under Florida's bad faith statute, Fla. Stat. § 624.155. See McLeod v. Continental Ins. Co., 591 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 1992); United Guaranty Residential Ins. Co. v. Alliance

Mortgage Co., 644 F. Supp. 339,341 (M.D. Fla. 1986). Mrs. Camp can maintain her bad faith action under § 624.155 irrespective of Dr. Kimbell's discharge in bankruptcy because her claim under the statute is not derivative of the insured's claim.

ARGUMENT

As the district court found, the evidence in the record created a genuine issue of fact as to whether St. Paul acted in bad faith. **127** B.R. at 881. For the reasons set forth below, appellants should be allowed to present their claims to a jury. The law and public policy of Florida should not provide absolute immunity to an insurer from liability for bad faith simply because the insured has become bankrupt, especially where the insurer has provided in the policy that its obligations will not be affected by the insured's bankruptcy or insolvency.

I. BY INSERTING THE BANKRUPTCY CLAUSE IN DR.
KIMBELL'S POLICY, ST. PAUL HAS WAIVED ANY
CONTENTION THAT DR. KIMBELL'S BANKRUPTCY PROVIDES
ABSOLUTE IMMUNITY FROM BAD FAITH LIABILITY

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