0 r 1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO, 79,712

824

ANNA RUE CAMP and JOHN E. VENN,

Appellants,

ν.

ST. PAUL FIRE & MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Appellee.

SID J. WHITE

JUL 21 1992

CHERK SUPREME COURT.

ON QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Elmo R. Hoffman, Esq. Brownlee, Hoffman & Jacobs, P.A. 255 South Orange Avenue Suite 1390 Orlando, FL 32801 (407) 872-6416 Counsel for Appellee

Gus Small, Jr., Esq.
William James Reedy, Esq.
Small, Whits & Morani, P.C.
2970 Peachtree Road, N.W.
Suite 400
Atlanta, GA 30355
(404) 237-0071
Counsel for Appellee

Juginal _

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

In Kelly V. Williams, 411 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), an action was broughr to recover for injuries suffered in an automobile accident by Kelly against Williams. Williams was insured by Allstare. Kelly accepted a \$50,000 payment and agreed not to execute on any judgment he might obtain against Williams for any amounts above \$50,000. In addition, the parties etipulated that in the event a bad faith action were filed against Allstate, Kelly would execute a Satisfaction of Judgment with regard to any and all judgments which were entered against Williams and would deliver such Satisfaction of Judgment to Williams' attorney within ten days of conclusion of the action. Florida's Fifth District Court of Appeal held that a cause of action for bad faith arises only when the insured is legally obligated to pay a judgment that is in excess of his policy limite, citing Farmers' Insurance Exchange V. Henderson, 82 Az. 335, 313 P.2d 404 (1957) and 7c Appleman Insurance Law and Practice, Section 4712, and stated:

held in Florida that the insured's mental anguish, resulting from the experience of the entry of a judgment in excess of his policy limits is not a legitimate element of recovery in a "bad faith" or "excess judgment" suit by an insured against his insurer. See Travelers Indemnity v. Butchikas, 313 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA), aff'd, 343 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1975)

Thus, given the facts in the case at bar, the District Court's findings constitute a straight-forward, logical application of the holdings in Cope and Clement.

B. Dr. Kimbell's Bankruptcy Estate Does Not Possess Any Cognizable Claim Against St. Paul Independent Of The Claim That Dr. Kimbell Was Harmed By St. Paul's Conduct,

The essence of a "bad faith" insurance **suit** (whether it is brought by the insured or by the injured party standing in his place), is that the insurer breached its duty to its insured by failing to properly or promptly defend the claim (which may encompass its failure to make a **good** faith offer of settlement within the policy limits) — all of which results in the insured being **exposed** to an excess judgment.

Kelly, 411 So. 2d at 904 (Citing *Thompson V.* Commercial *Union Insurance Company of N.Y.*, 250 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 1971)).

In Travelers Indemnity v, Butchikas, 313 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA), aff'd, 343 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1975), an insured brought an action against his automobile insurer seeking compensation far an amount that a previous judgment against him from an automobile accident exceeded his policy limits and for mental anguish, together with punitive damages. In that action Florida's First District Court of Appeals held that mental anguish arising out of a judgment against an insured in excess of his policy is not a legitimate element of damages because mental anguish is not reasonably within the contemplation of the parties (the insured and insurer) when they enter into the insurance contract, The insured in that case did recover the amount of the difference between his policy and the judgment entered against him, but the case was remanded with directions concerning an excess amount for mental anguieh.

It is thus clear that the District Court was correct in holding that Florida law requires harm to the insured as **a** prerequisite to maintaining a bad faith excess judgment case,

Appellants advance the argument that it is Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate which now possesses the excess judgment claim against St. Paul, 16 They further argue that even if St. Paul's conduct did not harm Dr. Kimbell or proximately cause his bankruptcy, the bankruptcy estate has still been harmed because the excess judgment resulted in an increase in the claims asserted against the bankruptcy estate. This "harm," according to Appellants, gives rise to a cause of action against St. Paul.

For the reasons stated below, Appellees submit that either the subject Excess Judgment Claim never became part of the bankruptcy estate and therefore could not be asserted by the Trustee in Bankruptcy," or if it did become part of the bankruptcy estate, (i) the claim was subject to all of the defenses discussed above respecting harm to Dr. Kimbell; and, in any event, (ii) St. Paul is not liable to the bankruptcy estate for any increase in claims.

1. The Excess Judgment Claim Against St. Paul Arose After The Filing Of Dr. Kimbell's Bankruptcy And Therefore Did Not Become Property Of His Bankruptcy Estate.

Appellee submits that Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate never succeeded to a claim against St. Paul because no cause of action for bad faith existed at the commencement of Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy case which could pass to Dr. Kimbell's Bankruptcy Estate. This is necessarily the case because the cause of action,

Appellants also argue that Mrs. Camp has an independent claim and should not have been dismissed as a party Plaintiff. This issue is discussed later in this brief.

Appellants do not argue that Mrs. Camp's claim against St. Paul has anything to do with "harm" to Dr. Kimbell's bankruptcy estate. Thus, the issue of "harm" to the estate is relevant only to the Trustee's claim.

if any, arose months after Dr. Kimbell filed his bankruptcy petition, to wit, at the time judgment was rendered in the state court.

Only causes of action existing at the time of the filing of the Bankruptcy pass by operation of law to the Bankruptcy Estate. 18

It is uncontroverted that the alleged breach of contract by St. Paul occurred at the time of St. Paul's rejection of Ms. Camp's last policy limits settlement offer. The last offer, according to Appellants took place on May 14, 1987. Appellants' Answer Brief in the Eleventh Circuit at 20.

2. Dr. Kimbell's Trustee Effectively Abandoned The Estate's Rights, If Any, To The Policy Contract,

Appellants submit that St. Paul's only duty was to its insured, Dr. Kimbell. It owed no duty to his bankruptcy estate, and none was expected by the Trustee.

It must first be noted that the Trustee, Mr. John Venn, did not participate as a party in the underlying malpractice case against Dr. Kimbell and did not participate in any of the settlement negotiations. In fact although Venn at one time

See Jones v. Harrell, 858 F.2d 667, 669 (11th Cir. 1988): ("A trustee in bankruptcy succeeds to all causes of action held by the debtor at the time the bankruptcy petition is filed." Emphasis supplied. See also 11 U.S.C. §541(a)(1) providing that property of the estate includes "...all legal or equitable interests of the debtor in property as of the commencement of the case". Emphasis supplied.

In his deposition of September 6, 1989, Mr. Venn testified:

Q And you never appeared as a party in that lawsuit,
right?

A No, I never did. I appeared at some of the hearings but not as a party. I appeared in my role as trustee and attorney for the trustee.

contended that he had an interest in the \$250,000.00 insurance proceeds in Ms. Camp's suit, he changed his mind and abandoned his interest therein. 20 Assuming arguendo that St. Paul had some duty to the bankruptcy estate initially, it is difficult to see how such duty could continue when the estate's trustee had voluntarily abandoned the estate's interest in the policy and lawsuit, did not participate in the lawsuit and sought no benefits therefrom for the creditors of the estate.

R: II: 110: 61-62.

* * *

Q Do you have any knowledge hat Mr. Estes and his **pa** thers, specifically Mr. Kerrigan, made various settlement proposals **to** Dr. Kimbell in that state court action?

 $^{{\}bf A}$ Other than their representations to me, I have no independent knowledge of it.

Q But they did tell you that?

A Yes.

Q And did they ever receive any authorization from you to make those settlement offers?

A No.

In his deposition of September 6, 1989, Venn testified:

Q Do **you** ever contend that any recovery that the Plaintiff in these personal injury cases would make would be property of the estate?

A I did for a very short period of time until fudge Killian told me I was wrong, and I think you told me I was wrong in Atlanta.

Q You subsequently **abandoned** your contention that any recovery made by Mra. Camp in the state court lawsuit would be property of the estate?

A Any recovery of the \$250,000.00 policy limits would be, that's correct.

Moreover, case law shows, as suggested by Venn in his deposition, 21 that there is a sound basis for abandoning the Estate's interest in a suit like the underlying malpractice case. While theoretically the Bankruptcy Estate may have become the owner of Dr. Kimbell's insurance policy at the time of the filing of his Bankruptcy Petition, the Courts have had no difficulty in distinguishing (1) those cases where the Estate has a claim or interest in an insurance policy which the Trustee should assert and recover for the benefit of a certain class of creditors from (2) those cases where the estate clearly does not have such a claim or interest and should not assert a claim. In the former cases, the Courts have kept control of insurance carriers and the proceeds of insurance policies. In the latter cases, the Courts have allowed Trustees to abandon their interests in insurance policies and have lifted the automatic stay and allowed third parties to pursue their rights against insurance carriers.

THE WITNESS:

...and I what [sic] typically tell the plaintiff's attorney is that the Bankruptcy Court, on a motion for relief from the stay, will typically allow the personal injury or the tort action to proceed for the purposes of collecting judgment but that no action may be taken against the debtor except for collection of insurance proceeds; and also, that the proceeding will serve to liquidate their claim in bankruptcy if they intend to file one.

R: IT: 110: 57-58

In his deposition of September 6, 1989, Venn testified:

In many of the so-called IUD and asbestos litigation cases, 22 the Courts have allowed Trustees in Bankruptcy or Debtors-in-Possession to marshall insurance proceeds for the benefit of a class of creditors who were protected by certain of a Debtor's insurance policies. An examination of these cases reveals that they almost always involved multiple victims and multiple insurance carriers. For example, see A.H. Robins Co., Inc. v. Piccinin, 788 F.2d 994 (4th Cir. 1986).

In these cases the total insurance proceeds from all insurance carriers were insufficient to cover the claims of multiple Plaintiffs with similar claims. Thus, by gathering all of the insurance proceeds into a "fund," a pro-rata payment could be made to the injured class of creditors under a Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization, The rights of all injured creditors in the class are thereby protected.

No such "equities" exist in the garden variety insurance case such as the underlying malpractice case at bar where there is usually one claimant and one policy and generally no reorganization.

The Eighth Circuit in <u>In re: Titan Energy</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 837 F.2d 325 (8th Cir. 1988) recently distinguished multiple claimant cases as described above from ordinary cases:

In the above cases, numerous creditors claimed entitlement $t\,o$ a debtor's insurance policy, the proceeds of which were inadequate

See A.H. Robins Co., Inc., infra; see also, In re Johns Manville Corp., 33 B.R. 254 (S.D.N.Y. 1983).

satisfy a large or growing list of claimants. Further, the debtor in those cases intended to resume business after concluding its Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings. Allowing one claimant to collect the policy proceeds in a state court judgment would, in those cases, deplete the insurance pool to the detriment of all remaining creditors. Further, disbursing the policy proceeds in a haphazard manner could slow the debtor's reorganization effort. Recognizing these hazards, the courts above shared two common goals - to insure equitable division of a limited insurance fund, and to facilitate the debtor's swift and efficient reorganization.

<u>Titan Enersy</u>, **837** F.2d at 330 (emphasis supplied). 23

In the case at bar, there is no reason to treat Dr. Kimbell's insurance policy as property of the bankruptcy estate. There are no multiple claimants and no chapter 11 reorganization.²⁴

A result consistent with the above logic has been ordered by the lower Court's Bankruptcy Division in an unpublished opinion of Judge Lewis M. Killian in <u>In re Ronald E. Wadkins</u>, May 19, 1988, Case No. 86-04064-A, United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Bankruptcy Division. In that case, Mr. Venn as Trustee of the Debtor sought to prevent the automatic stay from

The Bankruptcy Court: in *In* re *Forty-Eight Insulations*, *Inc.*, **54 B.R.** 905 (Bkcy N.D. Ill,), also distinguishes "garden variety" insurance cases from the more involved ones: "Both cases involved individual personal injury claimants where there was adequate insurance so that allowing the cases to proceed would not prejudice or diminish the debtor's estate, *54* B.R. at **908-909**.

Under Chapter 11, a Plan of Reorganization may classify general unsecured creditors in separate classes. Thus, a Plan could treat a class of asbestos claimants differently from a class of general trade creditors. ll U.S.C. §1122. See, e.g., In re U.S. Trucking Company, Inc., 800 F.2d 581 (6th Cir. 1986). There is, however, no basis under Chapter 7 of rhe Bankruptcy Code to treat any unsecured, non-priority creditor differently from other such creditors. See 11 U.S.C. §726.

being modified so as to allow personal injury victims to continue litigation against Debtor. The Bankruptcy Court modified the **stay** holding that the **case** at bar was unlike the IUD and Asbestos cases. 25

St. Paul submits that while an argument can be made that the subject insurance policy is nominally property of the bankruptcy estate, the Trustee's abandonment before trial of his right in the policy and the fact that the case at bar is not the kind of case warranting intrusion by the bankruptcy trustee into what is essentially a dispute between third parties make it clear that the District Court was correct in finding that any claim for bad faith belonged to the insured, Dr. Kimbell and not to his bankruptcy estate.

3. Any Claim The Bankruptcy Estate Possesses Against St. Paul Is Derivative Of Dr. Kimbell's Rights And Could Be No Greater Than Dr. Kimbell's Rights.

St. Paul submits that the bankruptcy estate's rights regarding this matter are derivative of Dr. Kimbell's rights pursuant to 11

See also Matter of Holtkamp, 669 F.2d 505 (7th Cir. 1982) holding that there was no harm to the Estate in allowing the state court action to continue.

The Bankruptcy Court on page 3 of its opinion states:

[&]quot;The Trustee has cited several cases dealing with multiple claimants where the insurance coverage is insufficient to pay all claims in full. In these instances, continuance of the stay is appropriate in order to provide a fair pro rata distribution to all beneficiaries in accordance with the distribution scheme of the Bankruptcy Code. The Court thus concurs with the Movants herein that these cases are distinguishable. There are no competing claims in the case sub judice, thus there can be no adverse impact on the estate from allowing the requested stay relief."

U.S.C. §541. That section of the Bankruptcy Code, as aforesaid, gives the bankruptcy estate all of a bankruptcy Debtor's legal and equitable interests in property, Appellants argue that this interest would include any claim which Dr. Kimbell had against St. Paul arising under the subject malpractice insurance policy. Thus, if Dr. Kimbell had no claim against St. Paul, neither would the bankruptcy estate.²⁶

As discussed in detail, supra, Florida law protects an insured from damages suffered by the insured arising from the failure of an insurance company to settle a liability case covered by a policy of insurance, See Cope, supra. However, in the case at bar, Dr. Kimbell was not damaged by St. Paul's conduct. The conduct of failing to settle the subject lawsuit took place months after Dr. Kimbell received his discharge in Bankruptcy. On two different occasions—one before verdict and one afterwards—the Bankruptcy Judge entered Orders protecting Dr. Kimbell from enforcement of any Judgment obtained by the Camps against him.²⁷

As pointed out by 4 Collier on Bankruptcy 7541.01 at p.541-6:

[&]quot;Although the broad provision of section 541(a)(1) includes choses in action and claims by the debtor against others, it is not intended to expand the debtor's rights against others beyond what rights existed at the Commencement of the case. For example, if a debtor's claim is barred by the statute of limitations at the commencement of the case, the trustee too will be barred and cannot, therefore, pursue the claim. The trustee can take no greater rights than the debtor himself had on the date the case was commenced." Emphasis supplied.

See paragraphs 10 and 18 of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. R:I:23:3, 8.

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